1957

# Robert L. McMullin et al v. Public Service Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Petitioners

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACT

Union and Jordan Irrigation Company is a corporation which was originally incorporated in 1895 as a mutual water company. Beginning about 1916 the company constructed a pipeline system for the purpose of serving culinary water and since that time has served culinary water to its stockholders and also to other persons desiring service. Since the enactment of the Public Utility Laws the company has submitted itself to the jurisdiction of the Public Service Commission of Utah and its predecessor, the Public Utilities Commission of Utah. It has maintained on file with the Commission its rates and regulations and has filed financial reports with the Commission and has generally conducted itself in accordance with the Commission Rules and Regulations. No formal Certificate of Convenience and Necessity has ever been issued by the company. However, in the year 1946, the company filed with the Commission a map showing its pipeline system. On this map it had shaded an area within which the company considered it was rendering service. A copy of this map is in evidence in this case as Exhibit I.

In January of 1955 Robert L. McMullin, on behalf of the petitioners here, negotiated for the purchase of certain property from Selma Olsen Malstrum and James Olsen. This property was located on the border of the shaded area as shown on Exhibit 1, part of the property lying within that shaded area and part of it lying north of the north boundary of such shaded area. However, because of the uncertainty as to the boundaries of the service area to the informality of the authority of the respondent company to serve, Mr. McMullin was

not aware of the location of the service area of the respondent company. He, therefore, contacted the Secretary-Treasurer of the respondent company and requested that the company furnish him with culinary water in the property which he proposed to buy and develop into a subdivision. On January 3, 1955 the Secretary of the company directed the following letter to the State Board of Health:

"State Board of Health  
Salt Lake City, Utah

Gentlemen:

Robert McMillan has applied for culinary water service for a proposed subdivision located East of 3rd East, at approximately 6900 South. This territory is within the boundaries of the area we have a franchise to serve. We feel that we can adequately serve this proposed area with the necessary culinary water service after the requirements for extensions and payments for them are made.

We hereby submit his application.

Respectfully yours,

Union & Jordan Irrigation Company  
Frank Pierson, Sec. & Treasurer"

Based upon such assurance, Mr. McMullin purchased the property in question and set about the planning of a subdivision thereon. He was subsequently notified by the company that they would render him no water service in that portion of the lands he had purchased which were north of the shaded area as shown on Exhibit 1. Accordingly, Mr. McMullin divided his property in two and developed two

subdivisions thereon. The first subdivision developed known as Selma #1 was located entirely within the boundaries of the shaded area as shown on Exhibit 1 and has been furnished culinary water by the respondent company. The remaining portion of the land which McMullin has been unable to develop because of the lack of culinary water consists of a strip of land running 272.40 feet north and south and 1123.75 feet east and west. The southernmost 50 feet of said property is within the shaded area as shown on Exhibit 1 while the northernmost 222.40 feet lies immediately north of the shaded area. No company renders culinary water service in the area lying immediately north of the shaded area as shown on Exhibit 1. Murray City lies a short distance further north but no service is available from that source because McMullin's property as well as some intervening property lying immediately north are outside the limits of Murray City. There is no other source from which it is economically feasible for McMullin to obtain culinary water service except from the respondent, Union and Jordan Irrigation Company. Without the culinary water service from that company, McMullin will be unable to develop this property for residential purposes—that being the purpose for which he purchased it, based upon the representation of the Secretary of the respondent company. Further facts in this case will be discussed in connection with points hereinafter raised as a basis for this petition for review.

As a basis for seeking a review and reversal of the Public Service Commission Order, the petitioners rely upon the following points:

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The Public Service Commission of Utah erred in holding that for Union and Jordan Irrigation Company to extend service to the property here involved would imperil service to its existing customers.

2. The Union and Jordan Irrigation Company should be estopped from denying that the petitioners' land is within its service area.

3. The Union and Jordan Irrigation Company as a public utility has an obligation to furnish service to users reasonably within its service area.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN HOLDING THAT FOR UNION AND JORDAN IRRIGATION COMPANY TO EXTEND SERVICE TO THE PROPERTY HERE INVOLVED WOULD IMPERIL SERVICE TO ITS EXISTING CUSTOMERS.

The Public Service Commission in its conclusion held that for the respondent company to render the service sought by the petitioners would imperil its service to its existing customers. This conclusion was reached upon the supposition that the respondent company had only 1.5 cfs of water available for culinary distribution. Such conclusion, however, is contrary to the evidence in this case.

The evidence is that the company has now approximately 1,000 users. It is true that if the evidence in the case be taken most strongly against these petitioners and if it further be held that one and a half cubic feet per second of water is all that is available for culinary distribution, then such thousand users during periods of peak consumption would consume substantially all the water available. This finding, however, proceeds upon a false basis—there is no more than 1.5 cfs of water available. The respondent as a public utility has an obligation to use all means necessary to obtain by purchase or otherwise sufficient water to meet the demands of its customers reasonably within its service area. This proposition is fundamental and the Public Service Commission of Utah itself has frequently required utilities to expend their facilities to meet added demand. In this case, however, it is not even necessary for the respondent company to go out and obtain additional water. They have the additional water according to the Commission's own finding. The smallest amount of water ever available from Little Cottonwood Creek to the respondent company was 2.06 cfs and this was during the months of December and January, a period of low consumption. The smallest amount ever available to the company during July and August, the period of maximum consumption, was 4.71 cubic feet per second. The balance of the water which the company receives from Little Cottonwood Creek over and above 1.5 cfs has been used by the company for irrigation purposes. The water available to the company as a public utility should be used by the company, when there is demand, for the highest and best use, namely domestic culinary use. Under the evidence in the case the company could,

by devoting to culinary use all of the water available to it from Little Cottonwood Creek service in excess of 3,000 customers at any time assuming a consumption of 1200 gallons per day per home during heavy summer use and 200 gallons per day during winter use which is the maximum useage testified to by anyone in this case. It is true that there was testimony in the record that if the property within the shaded area shown on Exhibit 1 were developed to its fullest, it might require 6,000 connections. However, that is idle speculation and something which certainly will not occur for many years in the future. If we speculate that this area might be developed into an apartment house area with congestion comparable to New York City, probably it could require 10,000 connections. However, we are here dealing with present conditions and with the foreseeable future. The fact remains that it has now only 1,000 connections and within the foreseeable future could not be expected to more than double that demand. The fact also remains that the company has available water for 3,000 connections. Certainly it is far fetched to say that approximately 30 additional connections, here being sought, offer any threat to the company's ability to continue rendering adequate service to its existing customers.

## POINT II

THE UNION AND JORDAN IRRIGATION COMPANY SHOULD BE ESTOPPED FROM DENYING THAT RESPONDENTS' LAND IS WITHIN ITS SERVICE AREA.

In its conclusion attached to the order in this case the Public Service Commission of Utah devotes a paragraph setting

forth its views as to why an estoppel does not lie in this case. It takes the position that the factor of estoppel should not be considered because of the fact that any contract entered into with a public utility by any person is subject to the right of the Public Service Commission to set such contract aside as being against the public interest. With this statement of law petitioners have no quarrel. If, in fact, the finding of the Public Service Commission to the effect that rendering service to this petitioner would imperil existing customers is well established by the record, then none of the arguments hereinafter made in this brief are of any validity. If, however, as petitioners argue in the immediately preceding section, such finding is not well founded and Union and Jordan Irrigation Company could well render service to these petitioners without endangering their service to their existing customers, then the matter of an estoppel and the matter of service area boundaries upon which the Public Service Commission declined to pass become very material.

It should be borne in mind in this case that the service area of the company in question is very ill-defined. There is no formal certificate defining these service areas. The only thing in the records of the Commission to indicate these service areas is the map, Exhibit 1.

An examination of Exhibit 1 will reveal that it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine from this Exhibit just where the exact boundaries of the shaded area are. For example, the map contains a notation that the north boundary is on a ditch on the quarter section line and yet the respondent company's officials admitted in the record that the ditch and

the quaretr section line do not coincide (Tr. 10). Even after having gone through two previous hearings before the Public Service Commission regarding their service areas, the officials of the company were uncertain as to where the north boundary was at the time this case came to hearing (Tr. 10). With such uncertainty existing it is obvious that the actual boundaries of the service area were subject to considerable interpretation.

In previous cases the Public Service Commission had been liberal in its interpretation of the service areas of the company. The record in two of these cases was included by reference in this hearing. The first of these was Investigation Docket #61 entitled Brady, et al vs. Union and Jordan Irrigation Company, decided by the Commission on February 6, 1953. The Brady property lay entirely without the shaded area on Exhibit 1 and in that case there was no contract by estoppel or otherwise on the part of the company to serve. In spite of this fact, the Commission interpreted the boundaries of the company liberally as the Commission itself says on Page 5 of its Findings in this case:

“In this case (the Brady case) the Commission concluded that the involved property was reasonably within the areas which had been developed by the Union and Jordan Irrigation Company as its service area even though not specifically included by the company or the Commission in the company's service area and the Commission directed the company to serve the property.”

It seems inconsistent for the Commission to hold in the Brady case that property which was adjacent to the shaded area on Exhibit 1 but entirely without the shaded area was

reasonably within the company's service area while the McMullin property which actually lay partly within the shaded area was not reasonably within such service area.

In the second case, Nowlan, et al vs. Union and Jordan Irrigation Company, Case #4179 decided by the Commission on the 6th day of December, 1955, the Commission was concerned with property that also lay outside the shaded area on Exhibit 1. In the Nowlan case the company denied service not because the Nowlan property was outside the reasonable service area but on the grounds that the company did not have sufficient water to service such property, which point the petitioners have attacked in the next preceding section.

With the point established as indeed it must be from the preceding cases, that the company's service area is indefinite and subject to Commission interpretation, then the question of estoppel becomes very important. It is impossible for anyone to tell by examining the files of the Public Service Commission just where the service area was, as the boundaries were subject to interpretation. McMullin, being uncertain as to the boundaries of this service area, went to the officials of the company and asked them whether or not they would serve him. They not only informed him that they would, but wrote a letter to that effect to the State Public Health Department. In reliance upon this representation, McMullin purchased the property. Certainly all of the elements of estoppel are present. These elements as set forth in 19 American Jurisprudence, Pages 642 and 643, are as follows:

“The essential elements of an equitable estoppel as related to the party estopped are: (1) Conduct which

amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts, or, at least, which is calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts to assert; (2) intention, or at least expectation, that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the real facts. As related to the party claiming the estoppel, they are: (1) Lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question; (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) action based thereon of such a character as to change his position prejudicially."

Based upon the representation of the company, McMullin now finds himself the owner of certain property which he can use advantageously only for subdivision development. Without water he cannot develop it. He certainly would not have bought the property except on the belief induced by the company's action that he was within the service area and could receive service. The company, therefore, should be estopped to deny that the petitioners are reasonably within the service area and the Public Service Commission charged with the duty of protecting the interests of the public should so interpret the service area.

There is no doubt about the power of the Public Service Commission to make such a rule nor is there any doubt of the propriety of such a ruling. A similar matter was before this Court in the case of Utah Power & Light Company vs. Public Service Commission, 249 Pacific 2d 951. In that case Nephi City had its own electric power distributing system, but bought its electrical energy from others. The city is located on the boundary between the distribution area of Utah Power & Light

Company and Telluride Power Company, the southernmost point of distribution of the Utah Power & Light Company being Thermoid Rubber Company on the northern outskirts of Nephi City. The City had been purchasing its power requirements from Telluride Power Company. In 1950 it attempted to negotiate a contract with the Utah Power & Light Company to serve its need but the Utah Power & Light Company declined to render such service on the ground that Nephi City was within the service area of Telluride Power Company. Nephi City petitioned the Public Service Commission to compel Utah Power & Light Company to enter into a contract for service of its power. Both Utah Power & Light Company and Telluride resisted this petition. The Public Service Commission, none the less, ordered Utah Power & Light Company to enter into the contract and to furnish the power. The decision was appealed to this Court by both Utah Power & Light Company and Telluride. This Court upheld the power of the Commission to require the service sought. The language of the Court is as follows:

“There is here no question of inability of the Utah Power & Light Company to perform this service as it is conceded that it can supply all the energy Nephi City may agree to purchase without impairing its ability to serve its other customers. The energy, according to the Commission’s order, is to be sold within the territory served by the Utah Power & Light Company and not elsewhere. Nephi City is to receive the power there and once this energy has entered the transmission line belonging to the city it becomes the property of the city and the Utah Power & Light Company has no further concern about it. As to the agreement under which this purchase of energy is to be

made, it will be subject to the supervision and regulation of the Commission because the Utah Power & Light Company and the contracts into which it enters are subject to such regulation regardless of who the other party to the agreement may be."

The case now before the Court has much stronger equities in favor of compelling the service than does the Nephi City case. In that case there was no question of Utah Power & Light Company having held itself out as being willing to render the service as is the case here. Nor was Utah Power & Light Company the only source of power as is the case here. The Public Service Commission in this case, pursuant to its duty to protect the public interests and to render a just and equitable decision to all parties concerned in a controversy properly within its jurisdiction should have ordered the company to render the service here being sought.

### POINT III

THE UNION AND JORDAN IRRIGATION COMPANY AS A PUBLIC UTILITY HAS AN OBLIGATION TO FURNISH SERVICE TO USERS REASONABLY WITHIN ITS SERVICE AREA.

If the McMullin property is construed to be reasonably within the service area of the Union and Jordan Irrigation Company on the basis set forth above, then the obligation of the company to render the service cannot be doubted. A public utility cannot resist on the ground that its facilities are inadequate. It has the obligation to construct adequate facilities. It cannot defend upon the ground that its finances are inadequate.

quate as it has the obligation to secure adequate finances. Even where the service rendered by the company entails the servicing of a natural commodity such as gas or water, the company cannot defend upon the grounds that its source of supply is being exhausted if it is within the power of the company to secure additional supply by purchase, condemnation, or by development of natural resources. The following language is found in 43 American Jurisprudence at Pages 601 and 602:

“In general, where a public utility accepts a franchise to serve the public or a portion thereof and undertakes to serve a community or territory and its inhabitants, it assumes a public duty to render service commensurate with its offer of providing a service system which will be reasonably adequate to meet the wants of the community or territory, not only at the time of the commencement of the service, but likewise to keep pace with the growth of the community or territory served and gradually to extend its system as the reasonable wants of the community or territory may require. Accordingly, a public utility, at the suit of a consumer, may be required to extend its service to any part of the district wherein it has received a franchise and has undertaken to operate, if the extension is a reasonable one, and a public service commission may, where its action is not unlawful, arbitrary or capricious, order such an extension of service for the inhabitants in such territory.”

The evidence in this case is clear that the company has considerably more water which is suitable for culinary use than it is actually devoting to culinary distribution. It is and has been devoting only 1.5 cfs to its pipelines and the Public Service Commission's finding that the company could serve

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