1957

Robert L. McMullin et al v. Public Service Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO EXTEND SERVICE TO THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION.

This point is in answer to first point of petitioners, which is stated as follows:

“The Public Service Commission of Utah erred in holding that for Union and Jordan Irri-

gation Company to extend service to the property herein involved would imperil service to its *existing* customers.” (Italics ours.)

We have not directly contradicted petitioners’ first point for the reason that it does not accurately state the holding of the commission. It will be noticed that the order of the commission never mentioned imperiling service only to *existing* customers. It may be that service could not be extended without imperiling service to existing customers. This is true as there was testimony that on hot days the entire 1.5 c.f.s. “assigned” or dedicated to public use was being consumed. However, the commission based its order upon the fact that it was the future needs of the area designated which would be imperiled. The order states (after disposing of the claim of estoppel):

“This leaves two questions for consideration:
 (1) Can the Public Service Commission require a public utility to provide service outside its prescribed service area? (2) Does the company in fact have sufficient water to provide the service requested by petitioners? The cases are divided as to whether the Commission has the right to require a public utility to provide service outside its prescribed area. This Commission, however, would certainly hesitate about ordering service outside a prescribed area if the evidence showed that it could not be done and at the same time take care of present *and future* needs of the customers within the area. The most recent case involving the question of the company’s supplying a petitioner outside its service area was the Nowlan case. While the Commission did not decide the specific question as to whether the company could

be required to provide service outside its service area, it did conclude that the company did not have sufficient water to provide for present *and future* needs of customers within the area if it commenced supplying petitioners outside of the area. There is no evidence of these conditions having changed since the time of the determination of the Nowlan case and for the same reason it is the conclusion of this Commission that the company should not be required to furnish water to the petitioners in the instant case." (Tr. 30, 85). (Italics ours.)

Petitioners in their brief under Point I have ignored three very important facts. First, that at the request of the Public Service Commission in 1946 the company filed a map of the area it was willing to serve. Second, that it never assigned more than 1.5 c.f.s. of water to such service. Third, that it was stipulated that the areas designated might require as many as 6,000 connections (Tr. 331).

With regard to the 1.5 c.f.s. of water available for culinary distribution petitioners simply state that the limitation of 1.5 c.f.s. "is contrary to the evidence in this case." They then proceed to show that Union and Jordan Irrigation Company owns additional water and proceed as if the Union and Jordan Irrigation Company can be ordered to make this water available to anyone who happened to petition for water service. As will be more specifically hereinafter pointed out it is not all of the assets of Union and Jordan Irrigation Company which are subject to the order of the Commission. The corporation was never formed for the purpose of serving gen-

erally as a public service corporation. For the purpose of arguing this point we will assume that Union and Jordan Irrigation Company and its stockholders may not now deny that it is subject to the orders of the Public Service Commission as to assets which it has dedicated to public use. Let us say that as to such assets it is a public utility by estoppel. The principle of estoppel can go no further than the representations which have been made. Petitioners have ignored the stipulation on this matter. The stipulation was (Tr. 330-331) :

“The company was originally incorporated in 1895 as a mutual water company for the purpose of distributing irrigation water to its stockholders. There has been no amendment to the original Articles of Incorporation except to extend the life of the corporation to 100 years. In about the year 1916 the company constructed a pipeline system for the purpose of serving culinary water and thereafter commenced serving culinary water to stockholders and non-stockholders alike. Subsequent to the enactment of the Utah public utilities laws the company submitted itself to the jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Commission of Utah and its successor, the Public Service Commission of Utah, and during all of the time since about 1916 the company has served its area with culinary water as a public utility. *Originally the company assigned 2½ cubic feet per second of its water from Little Cottonwood Creek to its culinary pipeline system. One cubic foot per second of this 2½ cubic feet per second however, was sold to Sandy City Corporation to raise funds for the construction of the company's pipeline system.* The company through the years has maintained on file with this Commission its rates, rules and

regulations, has sought permission to make changes and adjustments in its rates, rules and regulations and continuously since 1936 has filed a financial report with the Public Service Commission of Utah on the Commission's forms and in accordance with the Commission's rules and regulations." (Italics ours.)

Petitioners' first point depends entirely upon the power of the Public Service Commission to order the Union and Jordan Irrigation Company to dedicate to public use water which never has been so dedicated. The water over and above 1.5 c.f.s. has remained in the irrigation ditches and has been distributed to the shareholders for irrigation purposes. There is no more reason to require the company to transfer the use of this water to the petitioners than water which may be owned by the stockholders individually in their own right or any other water regardless of its use or ownership. We stand on the proposition that property which has not been dedicated to public use cannot be controlled by the Public Service Commission.

However, assuming that for some reason the Public Service Commission were given power to order water owned by a mutual water company be subjected to distribution by a public utility, it should not be done on an application for service by private individuals. This would at best have to be a condemnation proceeding by the public service corporation in which issues of value, right to condemn and other questions would be put in issue and tried according to due process of law. There is no law which has yet said that property which is not dedi-

cated to public use can be ordered into public use in such proceedings as these. If and when this can be done it must be by condemnation proceedings and this is not a condemnation proceeding.

If we assume that granting the petition in question may not jeopardize present service, it will unquestionably jeopardize future service in the service area.

Further discussion of the available water will be made under Point IV.

POINT II

THERE IS NO ESTOPPEL WHICH CAN BE APPLIED IN THIS CASE.

- (a) THE FACTS DO NOT WARRANT A FINDING OF A MISREPRESENTATION.
- (b) IF A MISREPRESENTATION WAS MADE THERE WAS NO RELIANCE THEREON TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE PETITIONERS.
- (c) ESTOPPEL MAY NOT BE INVOKED IN A PROCEEDING BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION AS THE BASIS FOR AN ORDER TO SERVE.
- (a) The facts do not warrant a finding of a misrepresentation.

The misrepresentation relied upon is the letter to the State Board of Health to the effect that Robert McMullin had applied for culinary water for a proposed subdivision located "east of Third East at approximately 6900 South."

It is beyond dispute that 6900 South is within the area served by the company. It is in fact approximately

one-half city block south of the Selma No. 1 subdivision, being the property purchased from Selma Olson Malmstrom and which is now being served. It is a long way south of the property in question. *There was no misrepresentation.* The letter itself is strong evidence that when Mr. McMullin told Mr. Pierson that he had bought the Olson property, he told Mr. Pierson that it was the Selma Olson Malmstrom property. In any event the representation made was true.

- (b) If a misrepresentation was made there was no reliance thereon to the detriment of the petitioners.

Petitioners, at pages 12 and 13 of their brief, quote from 19 American Jurisprudence as to the elements of estoppel. The last element is "(3) Action based thereon of such a character as to change his position prejudicially."

There is no evidence that petitioners have been prejudiced. On this question it is interesting to note the allegations of the petition. In paragraph 6 it is alleged (Tr. 2) that the petitioners have incurred large obligations and expended large sums of money to develop Selma No. 2 subdivision and have purchased pipe necessary for the connections in Selma No. 2 subdivision. It is further alleged that unless petitioners are supplied with culinary water they will be unable to complete their plans for this subdivision for 31 homes "to be constructed" and that the loss will be "approximately \$50,000."

It should be borne in mind that while Frank Pierson

denied having been told that McMullin was purchasing the James Olson property, as soon as he heard this was the case, he phoned Mr. McMullin and told him that the James Olson property was outside the area served by the company. Mr. McMullin stated that a short time after he had completed the contracts to purchase the ground on March 8, 1955, that he was called by Frank Pierson and told that the property was north of the north boundary of the area (Tr. 392). The purchase price of the property was \$2,000.00 per acre (Tr. 408). He made no attempt to sell the property and recover the cost (Tr. 409, 411). While Mr. McMullin testified he thought the land was not worth \$2,000.00 per acre without water, he also testified that he was not familiar with sales of similar land without culinary water. The questions and answers on the matter of sale and his qualification to determine values were as follows:

“Q. But you have never tried to sell it, as I understand?

A. No, sir.

Q. Never offered it for sale?

A. No, sir.

Q. Are you familiar with the sales of similar land in the area? Purchase — or other sales of similar land in the area that do not presently have any culinary water system?

A. No, sir.” (Tr. 425).

No work was done on the proposed Selma No. 2 subdivision except on a house that faces Third East which has water (Tr. 406). While he had purchased

3,000 feet of pipe for the subdivision the market prices had gone up 10 cents per foot since the purchase and it was contemplated that it would all be sold to Union and Jordan Irrigation Company (Tr. 412). The McMullins were therefore in a position to make a profit on the water pipe.

There was some testimony that there had been engineering fees paid of "9 hundred and some odd dollars" (Tr. 396). There was no testimony that this money would eventually be lost. Since there had been no attempt to sell the property and there would actually be a profit on the sale of the pipe, there was a chance that the McMullins would come out better than even. At least there was no proof that his position had been changed prejudicially. This is one of the necessary elements of estoppel according to all of the authorities including that quoted by petitioners.

The supposed damages which were alleged to be \$50,000.00 were the possible profits in building houses on the subdivisions (Tr. 395). The following is the question and answer as to losses other than the cost of the ground and cost of the pipe:

"Q. Now, will there be any other losses that you will suffer as a result if you are not able to obtain culinary water for this ground?

A. Well, that being my business, naturally I would suffer any loss—the loss of any profit I might have contemplated." (Tr. 395).

The claim that loss of profits on houses never built is prejudicial is fallacious.

Estoppel as a principle is only invoked to prevent a loss. It cannot be used to make a profit. Nor can it be used against the state when it interferes with the police power. See Estoppel, 19 Am. Jur., 639, 818, sections 40, 41 and 166.

The petitioners did not show that there was not other ground which could be purchased, subdivided and built on. Obviously there are thousands of acres of such ground in Salt Lake Valley. Profits are never a certainty. Respondent can just as well urge that the McMullins may have lost money on the speculative building and thereby saved money by not getting the water. In fact, considering the location of this property in a good location between Murray and Midvale this court might well take judicial notice that the petitioners have made a good deal. Without culinary water immediately available the land still has a very substantial value which may well be in excess of \$2,000.00 an acre. Furthermore, Union and Jordan Irrigation Company is not the only source of water for this or any other land. Supposedly the price was a fair one without the water. There was no evidence to the contrary by a qualified expert and the parties did not purport to buy and sell any water rights. There was testimony as follows:

“Q. Did you or did you not ever ask James Olson if his land was within the area that was being served by Union and Jordan Irrigation Company?

A. No.

Q. Now, with regard to the water stock which you have in the Union and Jordan Irrigation

Company, is that—that is stock that you purchased in connection with these two pieces of land, is it not?

- A. Right.
- Q. And which one did you get it from or was it both, James Olson, or Selma?
- A. The Union and Jordan water company shares came with the Selma Malmstrom property.
- Q. Now, you stated—and, of course, you didn't get any Union and Jordan stock from James Olson then?
- A. That's true." (Tr. 403).
- (c) Estoppel may not be invoked in a proceeding before the Public Service Commission as the basis for an order to serve.

Under this heading we should take a clear look at the relationship of the parties. This is not an action involving merely the Union and Jordan Irrigation Company and the petitioners. Public utilities are regulated by the Public Service Commission for the good of the public generally. A public utility may not serve, agree to serve, or become bound to serve without the approval, consent and order of the Public Service Commission itself. Estoppel to be valid must therefore necessarily apply against the Public Service Commission. There is a long line of cases by this court which hold that all contracts by a public utility are subject to approval and orders of the Public Service Commission. See:

Utah Hotel Company v. Public Utilities Commission of Utah, 59 Utah 389, 204 Pac. 511;

Salt Lake City v. Utah Light & Traction Company, 52 Utah 210, 173 Pac. 556, 3 A.L.R. 715;

Union Portland Cement Co. v. Public Utilities Commission of Utah, 56 Utah 175, 189 Pac. 593;

Murray City v. Utah Light & Traction Co., 56 Utah 437, 191 Pac. 421;

U. S. Smelting Refining and Mining Company v. Utah Power & Light Co., 58 Utah 168, 197 Pac. 902;

Utah Copper Co. v. Public Utilities Commission, 59 Utah 191, 203 Pac. 627.

The position of petitioners with regard to this estoppel and the legal answer thereto is well set forth in the order of the commission itself in the following statement:

“6. It is the main contention of the petitioners in this case that the company promised through its Secretary-Treasurer to serve the property of petitioners and that as a result of such promise the company is now estopped from denying service and that petitioners have the same right to require the company to serve their property as any person requesting new service to property within the service area of the company as shown on Exhibit 1.

* * *

By virtue of the broad powers bestowed on the Public Service Commission for the regulation of public utilities it follows that all contracts relative to service must be subject to approval or disapproval by the Commission. It does not follow, however, that because one of the parties to the agreement is estopped from evading its obliga-

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